No. 29641-5-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

FILED

OCT 03, 2011

Court of Appeals
Division III

State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

ALAN DALE JENKS,

Defendant/Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Harold D. Clarke, III

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

SUSAN MARIE GASCH
WSBA No. 16485
P. O. Box 30339
Spokane, WA 99223-3005
(509) 443-9149
Attorney for Appellant

##

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in allowing evidence of other acts of misconduct contrary to ER 404(b).
- 2. The trial court erred in allowing an expert DNA analyst to testify about the results of DNA tests that were conducted by other people who did not testify.
  - 3. Mr. Jenks was denied effective assistance of counsel.
  - 4. Mr. Jenks was denied a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Does a trial court abuse its discretion in allowing evidence of prior bad acts contrary to ER 404(b)?
- 2. Is the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause violated when an expert witness's testimony is based on the work of others who did not testify and that work was done for the purpose of criminal prosecution?
- 3. Is it improper under ER 602, ER 701, or ER 702 to allow a witness to testify as to the identity of a person in a video when such opinion evidence tends only to establish a fact which an average juror could decide for his or her self from viewing the video?

- 4. Was Mr. Jenks denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to Detective Gilmore's opinion testimony and the DNA expert witness' testimony?
- 5. Did cumulative error deprive Mr. Jenks of a fair trial as guaranteed by Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21 and 22?

#### **B.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 9, 2008, James Berg was clerking at the Zip Trip store on West Northwest Boulevard, Spokane, Washington. RP 32–33. A person with a bandana covering his face and possibly a hood covering his hair appeared and stuck out what appeared to be a gun, telling Berg to lie on the floor face down. RP 33, 35–36. Berg complied, and the male left within two to five minutes. RP 34, 47. Berg thought the male was close to his own height, 5'8". RP 34. Berg could tell the male was not Black, but could not identify the suspect and his voice was unfamiliar. RP 36–37.

The manager of the store, Bruce Denend, heard the command and stayed in the back office. RP 44–45. Watching the surveillance tapes being made from various cameras set up throughout the store, he saw the suspect grab two 18-packs of Budweiser beer from the cooler and take some cigarettes from behind the counter. RP 45–46. A customer, who opened the door just as the suspect began to leave, stepped aside and let

him go by. The customer did not recognize the male. RP 39–42. The customer thought the male was close to his own height, 5'11". RP 42. At a distance, Denend followed the suspect along a hedge of bushes and over the top could see the male appear to take off his sweatshirt next to some parked cars. The male got into a car and drove away from the parking lot. RP 47–48, 55–58.

Police arrived. RP 93–94. They recovered a maroon shirt from under a car in the area, which Denend thought was the clothing he had seen discarded. They found a white doo rag nearby. RP 48, 95–96.

Denend gave a copy of the surveillance tape to police. RP 49. The tape showed a male with a doo rag covering his hair, a cloth bandana over his lower face, and wearing a maroon colored shirt, and pants and shoes.

Exhibit 4. About one week later, Denend reviewed surveillance tapes from an apparent shoplifting incident that occurred in the store a month earlier, on November 8, 2008. Denend thought the person in that earlier incident might be the same male involved in the current robbery, and gave a copy of it to police. RP 49–50. Denend recognized the person in the earlier incident as a former regular customer. RP 53. The tape of the earlier incident showed a male with long blond hair gathered in a ponytail,

no covering over his face and also wearing a shirt, pants and shoes. Exhibit 3.

Spokane Police Department Detective David Gilmorewas told by another officer that the suspect in the tape of the earlier incident was the defendant, Alan Dale Jenks. RP 102, 105. After comparing the two tapes and reviewing some other photos, Det. Gilmore concluded the male involved in both incidents was Mr. Jenks. RP 105–06. Mr. Jenks lived about four blocks from the Zip Trip store. RP 107. In late December 2008 the detective went to the house and left a message with a family member there that he was conducting a criminal investigation and wanted to talk to Mr. Jenks. RP 107–08. Mr. Jenks thereafter left a message saying he had heard that Det. Gilmore wanted to talk with him. RP 108.

On January 19, 2009, Det. Gilmore went to Mr. Jenks' house. RP 108. Mr. Jenks' hair was shaved off. RP 110. In the interview, Mr. Jenks admitted he was the person who was shoplifting in the earlier surveillance tape but denied having anything to do with the December 2008 robbery. When asked why he had shaved off his hair, Mr. Jenks said he was just tired of taking care of his long hair. RP 111.

Police submitted the maroon shirt and doo rag for DNA testing.

RP 114. After the lab found biological matter on the clothing, Det.

Gilmore obtained consent and took a buccal swab from Mr. Jenks for a DNA reference sample. RP 114–18. Police thereafter charged Mr. Jenks with first degree robbery based on the December 9, 2008 incident. CP 1. Admissibility of videotape of prior uncharged shoplifting and related testimony.

Prior to the first trial, the State sought to admit the videotape of the earlier shoplifting incident under ER 404(b). CP 8–13. The State argued the tape was admissible primarily under the identity exception:

Here one of the main issues, and the issue, I think is identification. The surveillance video from November 8<sup>th</sup> shows the defendant without any concealment around his face; it shows his height; it shows his facial characteristics; it shows his mannerism, how he carries himself; it shows his hair length. It shows him under ordinary circumstances.

In the [December 9] video ... you have a situation where the suspect robber now has a bandana around his face, but it is clear you see that the individual has long hair, you see that the individual is of the same or very close to similar height [to] the defendant as he appeared without a bandana on his face. It shows that he is familiar with that particular store; that he's not a stranger to that particular store from the November 8, 2008 video. It shows his mannerisms. It shows his dress.

And since the issue, again, will focus on the issue of identity – as the main umbrella – but all those other prongs, absence of mistake, knowledge of the place – clearly are ... all acceptable reasons for the admissibility of the video.

RP 204–05. The State simply stated the "the probative value clearly outweighs any prejudice in this particular case." RP 205. The State observed there was "no way if you looked at the December video to say

that was the defendant", and also noted that the earlier tape was a "key component" in Det. Gilmore's investigation and the trail would not have led to Mr. Jenks in the absence of the detective's being able to compare the two videos. RP 205, 208.

Defense counsel objected, noting the incidents were entirely unrelated transactions with no indication they were connected or part of some common scheme or plan; the video of the December robbery offered its own opportunity for identification; the fact that Mr. Jenks had been in the store before does not necessarily make it more likely than not that he may have been in the store a second time, and the similarity of theft and robbery crimes created a very high risk of unfair prejudice. RP 206–07. Counsel suggested that if the court were to allow admission of the earlier video, it should exclude any testimony and/or reference to possible shoplifting. RP 207.

The trial court determined the earlier videotape was relevant because the main purpose of introducing it was to establish Mr. Jenks' identity as the person who committed the present crime. RP 211–12. The court concluded the video had probative value that outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice (which it did not discuss):

The probative side is ... how closely or directly the misconduct tends to prove the crime charged. If the misconduct is remote in

terms of time or other considerations, then, you, we get less probative.

Here we have this act, again, within one month, same store, again, same again type of act, removal of property without consent of the owner, in that general category of a crime. So it seems to me to be extremely probative in the sense of finding identity.

RP 212–13. The court allowed admission of the earlier video, saying no mention was to be made of shoplifting; the State could simply establish that Mr. Jenks was the person in the video and the video could be shown to the jury. RP 213.

The jury was deadlocked and unable to reach a verdict in the first trial, and a mistrial was declared. RP 4. In a CrR 3.5 hearing held prior to the second trial, the State elicited testimony from Det. Gilmore that Mr. Jenks admitted being in the Zip Trip store on November 8, 2008 and that he had shoplifted some beer. RP 10–11. The detective said the surveillance tapes of November 8, 2008, showed two beer thefts about an hour apart, that Mr. Jenks was involved in both, and that it depicted Mr. Jenks and a second person grabbing beer and running outside with the beer. RP 10–11. The December 9, 2008 video is approximately two minutes long; the November 8, 2008 video is about eight to ten minutes long. RP 209. The State renewed its ER 404(b) motion to admit the surveillance video from the earlier shoplift incident. Summarily relying on its prior ER 404(b) and ER 403 analysis, the trial court again allowed

admission under ER 404(b), but excluded any mention that Mr. Jenks admitted to taking some beer. RP 19–25.

The surveillance tapes from November 8, 2008 (Exhibit 3) and December 9, 2008 (Exhibit 4) were played for the jury. RP 49-52. During trial, Detective Gilmore testified he compared the two video tapes and photos of Mr. Jenks and Mr. Jenk's brother. Based on his perception of similar stature, height, pants and shoes, and their movements within the store, the detective concluded the male shown in the later video was Mr. Jenks. RP 105–107. The detective testified that "[t]he big difference between what you could see very clearly in the November 8<sup>th</sup> video and the January 19<sup>th</sup> talk on the front porch was that [Mr. Jenks'] head was shaved; there was no ponytail anymore. Still had the goatee." RP 110. When asked, Mr. Jenks said he was about 5'4" tall. RP 111. Detective Gilmore testified he could tell the male in the earlier video was "definitely on the short end of adult white males," "I don't care if he's 5'2" or 5'6", and "when the person who is on the robbery video on December 9<sup>th</sup> comes in, it appears to be the same-sized person, the stature is the same, and some of the clothing looks the same." RP 112. Denend had described the robbery suspect as a male in his 20's with short blond hair. Detective Gilmore later testified that description did not match the person shown

committing the robbery. RP 56, 109. Mr. Jenks denied that he committed the robbery. RP 112–14.

Testimony regarding DNA results.

The only evidence linking the DNA profile to Mr. Jenks was testimony given by Lorraine Heath, a supervising forensic scientist in the DNA section of the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory. RP 60, 60–87. To use DNA to identify somebody, a reference sample taken from an individual of interest is compared with a profile obtained from items from the scene. RP 64–65. Robin Harper, who no longer works at the lab and could not be contacted for purposes of testifying at this trial, was the only person who conducted the reference sample DNA profile from Mr. Jenks' buccal swab. RP 64–65, 68, 76. For purposes of this trial, Ms. Heath re-tested the sweatshirt and doo rag to obtain a wearer DNA profile. RP 65–67.

The lab has strict policies and guidelines to follow when processing evidence samples and evidence so as to avoid contamination, and Ms. Heath testified she followed them in the work she did in this case. RP 67–68, 76–77. Ms. Heath determined that the DNA profile she obtained from the doo rag was consistent with DNA from Ms. Harper's reference sample profile of Mr. Jenks and at least two other people. Based

on the U.S. population, it is estimated that one in four individuals is a potential contributor to the doo rag profile. RP 70. The DNA profile she obtained from the sweatshirt was consistent with DNA from Ms. Harper's reference sample profile of Mr. Jenks and at least one other person as significant contributors, as well as with one other person as a trace contributor. Based on the U.S. population, it is estimated that one in 630,000 individuals is a potential significant contributor to the sweatshirt profile. RP 72. Identical twins will have identical DNA profiles. RP 84. A given profile will have more similarities with DNA of parents and siblings than with DNA of people who are not family members. RP 84–85. Testimony showed that Mr. Jenks had a father and at least one brother. RP 104–06. Over defense objection, Detective Gilmore testified that he had reviewed Mr. Jenks' birth record and determined that he does not have an identical twin brother. RP 117–19.

The jury found Mr. Jenks guilty as charged of first-degree robbery.

RP 164; CP 44. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 60 months and an 18-month period of community custody. RP 179; CP 47–49. This appeal followed. CP 57.

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing evidence of other bad acts contrary to ER 404(b).

ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

Rule 404(b) thus provides that prior misconduct is not admissible to show that a defendant is a "criminal type", and is thus likely to have committed the crime for which he or she is presently charged. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). However, crimes or misconduct other than the acts charged may be admitted for a variety of other reasons including the proving of a scheme or plan of which the offense charged is a manifestation. See, e.g., 5 K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence §§ 114, 117, at 383, 404 (3d ed. 1989). When the very doing of the act charged is still to be proved, one of the facts that may be introduced into evidence is the person's design or plan to do it. 2 John H. Wigmore, Evidence § 304, at 249 (James H. Chadbourn rev. ed. 1979). If the

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Assignment of Error No. 1, 4.

evidence is offered for a legitimate purpose, then the exclusion provision of rule 404(b) does not apply. <u>Lough</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 853, 889 P.2d 487.

Besides being relevant and necessary to purposes other than proving character or propensity, a trial court must also determine on the record whether the danger of undue prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of such evidence, in view of the other means of proof and other factors. ER 403; Comment, ER 404(b); State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 628, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists. State v. Rice, 48 Wn. App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987). When considering misconduct which does not rise to a level of criminal activity, but which may nonetheless disparage the defendant, extreme caution must be used to avoid prejudice. State v. Myers, 49 Wn. App. 243, 247, 742 P.2d 180 (1987) (citing 5 K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., Evidence, Comment 404, at 258 (2d ed. 1982)). "In doubtful cases the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and exclusion of the evidence.' " State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)(quoting State v. Bennett, 36 Wn. App. 176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983)).

Thus, to admit evidence of other crimes or wrongs under Washington law, the trial court must (1) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (2) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged and (3) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. <u>Dennison</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 628, 801 P.2d 193.

Herein, the "other act" at issue is the surveillance video tape portraying the earlier shoplifting incident of November 8, 2008 (Exhibit 3) that was not prosecuted and was not related to the charged crime of robbery. The trial court excluded any testimony referring to the incident as "shoplifting/theft" or to Mr. Jenks' admission that he committed it, but did not prohibit evidence that Mr. Jenks admitted he was the person portrayed in the video. However, the court's ruling failed to insulate the jury from the harmful prejudicial nature of this bad-character evidence.

Evidence of other misconduct may be admissible to prove identity, assuming identity is actually at issue, and then only when the evidence, in some tangible way, links the defendant to the crime with which the defendant is charged. 5D K. Tegland, Wash. Prac., Handbook Wash. Evid. ER 404(b), Sec. (11) (2010–11 ed.). Admissibility to show identity and admissibility to show a unique modus operandi are two ways of saying

the same thing, and evidence of prior misconduct is admissible on the issue of identity only if it demonstrates a unique *modus operandi*. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 66–67, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); see also State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).

Evidence of other crimes is relevant on the issue of identity only if the method employed in the commission of both crimes is "so unique" that proof that an accused committed one of the crimes creates a high probability that he also committed the other crimes with which he is charged. State v. Hernandez, 58 Wn. App. 793, 798–99, 794 P.2d 1327 (1990) (citation omitted); see State v. Laureano, 101 Wn.2d 745, 682 P.2d 889 (1984) (evidence of prior robbery admissible under ER 404(b) where crimes committed 3 weeks apart where both involved forcible entry into family residences by three persons dressed in army fatigues (though not the same three) and where both involved firearms and similar use of a shotgun); see also State v. Lynch, 58 Wn. App. 83, 792 P.2d 167 (two prior robberies admissible where all crimes involved wearing a brown wig, similar time of day, a red 10-speed bicycle, display of a gun tucked in a waistband, and theft of car keys from victims), rev. denied, 115 Wn.2d 1020, 802 P.2d 126 (1990).

In <u>Hernandez</u>, the reviewing court considered whether the trial

court should have severed three robbery charges for trial. The court rejected the State's argument that evidence of the robberies was cross-admissible and therefore reduced any prejudice incurred by denial of the motion to sever.

Here, there is no evidence that the methods employed in these robberies was unique. While the stores that were robbed were similar, there was no showing that the robberies were committed in an unusual or unique manner. In each case, the robber entered the store, pulled a gun, asked for the money and fled upon receiving it. There is nothing about this method of robbery that suggests it is highly probable that the same robber committed all three crimes. We conclude, therefore, that evidence of any one of the charges here would not have been admissible in a separate trial on either of the other two charges. Consequently, cross-admissibility may not be considered as a "prejudice-mitigating" factor.

Hernandez, 58 Wn. App. at 799.

Here, identity of the robbery suspect was at issue because Mr.

Jenks denied having any knowledge of the robbery. However, as in

Hernandez, there was nothing tangible and unique about the commission

of the shoplift and robbery crimes that created a high probability that Mr.

Jenks committed both. The robbery currently charged involved an armed and masked suspect, who confronted the cashier and threatened an incoming customer, and fled with cases of beer. In contrast, the uncharged shoplift incident involved no disguise, no gun, no confrontation

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RP 40.

and was committed simply because Mr. Jenks was drunk.<sup>3</sup>

The facts that Detective Gilmore used the earlier surveillance tape in his investigation and that it led him to Mr. Jenks and ultimately to a DNA reference sample is irrelevant to the ER 404(b) analysis. The conduct depicted in the video does not fall under any of the categories for admissibility listed in ER 404(b) nor has the State shown a legitimate alternate basis. Any probative value of the conduct under ER 403 is minimal. Allowing the jury to see the eight-minute video of what was obviously a shoplift in progress together with testimony that Mr. Jenks admitted he was the person in the video was extremely prejudicial, and served only to show that he had a propensity to commit theft and likely committed the current crime. Evidence of this nature is inadmissible under ER 404(b). Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the November 8, 2008 surveillance video tape evidence.

<sup>3</sup> RP 10.

2. The Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause was violated when the DNA expert witness's testimony was based in part on the work of another who did not testify, and that work was done for the purpose of criminal prosecution.<sup>4</sup>

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