FILED
NOV 04, 2011
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

29641-5-III
COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ALAN D. JENKS, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF SPOKANE COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STEVEN J. TUCKER
Prosecuting Attorney

Andrew J. Metts
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building
West 1100 Mallon
Spokane, Washington 99260
(509) 477-3662

ISSUES PRESENTED

- A. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IDENTIFY A LEGITIMATE PURPOSE FOR ADMITTING TESTIMONY AND VIDEO OF A PRIOR SHOPLIFTING INCIDENT INVOLVING THE DEFENDANT?
- B. DID THE DEFENDANT WAIVE HIS RIGHTS TO THE PRESENCE OF THE LABORATORY TECHNICIAN BY FAILING TO REQUEST THE TECHNICIAN IN THE PROPER TIME FRAME AND FAILING TO OBJECT AT TRIAL?

- C. WAS DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT ON NON-VIABLE GROUNDS?
- D. HAS THE DEFENDANT SHOWN AN ACCUMULATION OF ERRORS IN AN ERRORLESS TRIAL?

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of this appeal only, the State accepts the defendants version of the Statement of the Case.

IV.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE CONTESTED ER 404(b) EVIDENCE AFTER PROPERLY IDENTIFYING THE PURPOSE FOR ADMISSION AND THE RELATIVE PROBATIVE VALUE VS. ANY PREJUDICIAL EFFECT.

The defendant asserts that the trial court erred in admitting testimony and video of a prior shoplifting incident involving the defendant stealing beer from the same store in which the robbery took place. The defendant relies mainly on an ER 404(b) objection.

The admission of prior bad acts is covered by ER 404 (b).

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b).

Since this was the second trial after the first one ended in a mistrial, the trial court was less expansive in its holdings on the question of admission of the video and information on the [date] incident. However, it is clear from the trial court's comments that it was holding as it had in the first trial *i.e.* the incident fell under the identity exception to the general rule of ER 404(b). The defendant admits that the identity of the robbery suspect was at issue as the defendant denied any knowledge of the crime. Brf. of App. 15. The trial court stated, "I thought that that was because identity is an issue in this case, it seemed to me that that clearly went to identity." RP 24.

Admission of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the court and a trial judge has wide discretion in balancing the probative value of evidence against its potential prejudicial impact. *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 684 P.2d 668 (1984), *State v. Laureano*, 101 Wn.2d 745, 682 P.2d 889 (1984) *overruled on other grounds State v. Brown*,

111 Wn.2d 124, 132-33, 761 P.2d 588 (1988); *State v. Rivers*, 129 Wn.2d 697, 921 P.2d 95 (1996). "The admission or exclusion of relevant evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and its decision will not be reversed absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion." *State v. Wilson*, 60 Wn. App. 887, 808 P.2d 754 (1991). See also *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995); *State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060, (1992); *State v. McDonald*, 138 Wn.2d 680, 981 P.2d 443 (1999). Admission of 404(b) evidence will be reviewed under a manifest abuse of discretion standard. *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 889 P.2d 929 (1995).

In determining whether evidence of other crimes may be admitted under ER 404(b), a trial court must conduct the following analysis on the record: (1) identify the purpose for which the evidence is to be admitted; (2) determine that the evidence is relevant and of consequence to the outcome; and (3) balance the probative value of the evidence against its potential prejudicial effect. Additionally, the party offering the evidence of prior misconduct has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct actually occurred.

State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995).

Working through the analysis, (1) As noted previously, the trial court admitted the evidence under the identity exception. (2), (3) The trial court noted that it previously [prior trial] went through an ER 403 analysis and determined that because the trial court had "sanitized" the

incident in the prior trial to remove any unduly prejudicial effect, the evidence was admissible because the incident was probative in that it helped to establish identity. RP 24-25. As for (4), the defendant admitted that it was him on the videotape stealing the beer. Certainly there was no issue regarding whether the misconduct actually occurred.

The defendant claims that the court's ruling prohibiting testimony referring to the prior incident as "shoplifting/theft" but allowing testimony that the defendant admitted he was the person seen on the video, did not insulate the jury from the harmful effects of the evidence. The defendant was given a chance to have the court issue a limiting instruction. RP 25. As in the first trial, the defense counsel elected not to ask the trial court for a limiting instruction. Any problem raised by defense counsel's decision would certainly be "invited error."

Finally, assuming, arguendo, the trial court erred, the error is harmless. "Evidentiary errors under ER 404 are not of constitutional magnitude. We must determine, therefore, within reasonable probabilities, if the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not occurred." *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).

B. THE DEFENDANT WAIVED HIS
CONFRONTATION RIGHTS.

The defendant claims his Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause rights were violated when the DNA expert's testimony was based in part on the conclusions of a technician who did not testify.

This court recently dealt with the exact issue raised by the defendant. In *State v. Schroeder*, No. 29465-0, 2011 WL 4498846 (Div 3, Sept. 29, 2011), the defendant claimed Sixth Amendment violations by way of *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 557 U.S. ---, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009) and *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). This court affirmed *Schroeder's* convictions because he did not object to the admission of the laboratory report and had not requested that the expert be presented in court. *Schroeder, supra*.

CrR 6.13(b) controls the admission of reports from experts. CrR 6.13(b). CrR 6.13(b)(3)(iii) requires the defendant to provide notice to the State 7 days prior to the trial date that the defendant is demanding the expert appear. *Id.* The defendant in this case made no such demand.

By failing to object to the admission of the DNA expert's testimony and by failing to demand the expert who performed the tests, the defendant waived his Sixth Amendment Confrontation rights.

“The right to confrontation may, of course, be waived, including by failure to object to the offending evidence; and States may adopt procedural rules governing the exercise of such objections.” *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 129 S. Ct. at 2534 FN3.

The defendant has not raised any issues regarding notice from the State regarding the DNA reports either by way of form or timing. In short, the defendant waived his Sixth Amendment Right to Confrontation and this section of the defendant’s argument is without merit.

C. DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE.

The defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective on multiple grounds.

Defense counsel is strongly presumed to be effective. *State v. McDonald*, 138 Wn.2d at 696, . “The burden is on a defendant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel to show deficient representation based on the record established in the proceedings below.” *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet a two-pronged test. The defendant must show (1) that counsel’s performance fell below an objective standard of performance, and (2) that the ineffective performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland*

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). In examining the first prong of the test, the court makes reference to 'an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all of the circumstances.' *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Appellate review of counsel's performance is highly deferential and there is a strong presumption that the performance was reasonable. *State v. Bowerman*, 115 Wn.2d 794, 808, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). In order to prevail on the second prong of the test, the defendant must show that, "but for the ineffective assistance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different." *Id.* A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The two prongs are independent and a failure to show either of the two prongs terminates review of the other. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687). "If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice . . . that course should be followed." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

A defense counsel's effectiveness is not determined by the result of the trial. *State v. Early*, 70 Wn. App. 452, 461, 853 P.2d 964 (1993) (citing *State v. White*, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972)), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994). "[T]he court must make every effort

to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and must strongly presume that counsel's conduct constituted sound trial strategy.” *In re Personal Restraint of Rice*, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689), *cert. denied*, 506 U.S. 958 (1992); see *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

The defendant initially posits an ineffective assistance argument in the form of a negative circular argument. According to the defendant, the record does not contain any evidence that Det. Gilmore had personal knowledge about the defendant. Yet, the defendant never raised the issue at trial. It could be entirely possible that Det. Gilmore knows much more about the situation than came out at trial. It is not beyond the realm of possibility that Det. Gilmore knew things about the defendant's brother which the defendant might not have wanted exposed to the jury. Neither side asked the detective the line of questions now being asked on appeal. So, the defendant is arguing that the detective could not testify because of a lack of foundation when the defendant did not request such foundation at trial. It is disingenuous to argue an allegedly faulty testimonial foundation when the issue was never raised at trial. The trial prosecutor could hardly know that he should place extended foundational testimony in the record

because the issue might be raised sometime in the future.¹ Trials are not conducted on such principles. Even if the prosecutor had tried to enter all personal knowledge of Det. Gilmore, the trial court would have been wondering why the prosecutor was laying an extensive foundation for a fairly minor identification issue.

The State used the testimony to solidify an issue mentioned by the DNA expert regarding DNA matches from close relatives. It was a factual hole in the State's case that the defendant had a brother. The State needed to show not only that the defendant's DNA was on the tested items but also met the need to thwart the argument that the DNA belonged to the defendant's brother.

The defendant cites to *State v. Hardy*, 76 Wn. App. 188, 884 P.2d 8 (1994) for the proposition that since (according to the defendant) Det. Gilmore had no personal knowledge regarding the defendant's brother, he should not have been allowed to testify regarding his opinions of the defendant's brother and his absence from the videos. In actuality, the defense on appeal has no knowledge as to what Det. Gilmore knew or did not know about the defendant's brother.

¹ It is doubly disingenuous to make these "faulty foundation" arguments when the State had no way of knowing that testimonial foundation would be an issue and then the arguing (elsewhere in this section) ineffective assistance of counsel based on a failure to object to this issue at trial.

If the defendant's logic were to hold sway, there would be little about which detectives could ever testify. Detectives assemble cases from pictures, interviews, documents, etc. There may be some personal knowledge mixed in, but largely, detectives testify to what they learned from others.

Both the shoplifting video and the robbery video were shown to the jury nearer to the beginning of the trial and Det. Gilmore's testimony came later. Whatever the detective viewed to determine that the defendant's brother was not involved in the robbery was part of the detective's testimony. No photograph of the defendant's brother was entered into evidence.

The defendant wishes to tailor and control the State's case by controlling what proof is offered by the State and what form any proof might take. For example, the defendant argues that the jury should have been supplied with the photo of the defendant's brother and allowed to determine for themselves whether the brother was involved. This line of argument leads to an impossible situation for the State. Since there was no photo of the brother entered, can the defendant then force the State to produce such a photograph or lose the ability to advise the jury that the brother was not involved?

The defendant never claimed that his brother was the robber. The purpose of the detective's contested testimony was to reduce or eliminate the possibility of the defense arguing at trial that the DNA was inconclusive because the DNA could have belonged to the defendant's brother.

Det. Gilmore did not state any opinions regarding guilt. The detective's testimony was centered on *why* he pursued the defendant. Defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object as there were no grounds to object.

Next, the defendant claims ineffective assistance of counsel because trial counsel did not object to the testimony of Det. Gilmore regarding the possibilities of the defendant's brother being the perpetrator of the robbery rather than the defendant.

As noted in the preceding section, this issue was of minor import in the grand scheme of the trial. The defendant counters his own arguments. The defendant argues that the jury could have compared the photo to the video of the robbery. Brf. of App. 33. In the first place there was no photograph in evidence. Secondly, it is likely that any photo used by the detective was a booking photo or other less than "class graduation" quality photo. Objecting to the testimony of the detective would have

been pointless in view of the fact that no mention of the brother or the brother's possible involvement in the crime was part of the defense case.

On the other hand, an objection could only have emphasized to the jury that it was not the defendant's brother in the videos. Further, an objection might have opened up unsavory details regarding how a detective happened to know about the existence of a brother. However that knowledge was obtained by the detective, revealing the details in front of the jury might have had considerable negative consequences.

The defendant is shooting wide of the mark on appeal. The issue was whether the person in the videotape was the defendant. The jury saw the defendant sitting in court and viewed both the earlier shoplifting video and the robbery video. It was the jury's decision on whether the defendant was the perpetrator. All of that data was already before the jury prior to Det. Gilmore taking the stand. Objecting to Det. Gilmore's testimony most likely would have been fruitless and had the strong possibility of emphasizing items the defense did not want emphasized.

"Where a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel rests on trial counsel's failure to object, a defendant must show that an objection would likely have been sustained." *State v. Fortun-Cebada*, 158 Wn. App. 158, 172, 241 P.3d 800 (2010).

A short time after Det. Gilmore's contested testimony, the detective began to testify regarding the defendant having an identical twin. RP 117. Defense counsel objected to the detective's testimony that he had looked at the birth records and the defendant had no twin brother. RP 118. The trial court overruled the objection and the data came in.

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